Appeal Nos. 14-CO-978 & 23-CO-507



ANTHONY FALTZ,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES

Appellee.

On Appeal from the Superior Court

of the District of Columbia, Criminal Division

Case No. 2006 CF1 004490

(The Honorable Erik P. Christian, Judge)

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

JAMES MILLIKAN MID-ATLANTIC INNOCENCE PROJECT 1413 K St. N.W., Suite 1100 Washington, D.C. 20005 Phone: 202-969-0979 LESLIE W. KOSTYSHAK MATTHEW J. REVIS DESTINY T. STOKES HUNTON ANDREWS KURTH LLP 2200 Pennsylvania Avenue N.W. Washington, D.C. 20037 Phone: 202-955-1500

September 18, 2023

Counsel for Appellant

Clerk of the Court

Clerk of the Court Received 09/18/2023 01:34 PM

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. This Court must reverse because the lower court denied Mr. Faltz's due process rights by conducting his hearing under the stated belief that innocent people do not plead guilty.
- II. This Court must reverse because the lower court abused its discretion in performing an improper *Strickland* analysis of trial and post-conviction counsel and failing to find that his counsel's deficient performance prejudiced Mr. Faltz.
- III. This Court must reverse because the lower court abused its discretion when it not only admitted, but credited, the testimony of government experts Miller and Chase despite their clear failures to meet the *Daubert* standard of expert reliability.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On February 19, 2002, a stolen Crown Victoria sped through the streets of Washington, D.C., followed closely by police cars in pursuit. App. 161–62. The driver ran a red light and collided with the passenger side of a Nissan Maxima. App. 162. The occupants of the Nissan died as a result. App. 540–41. The Crown Victoria spun until coming to a stop at the side of the road. App. 424–25.

Three young men were in the Crown Victoria: twin brothers D.I and D.I., and their friend, Anthony Faltz. App. 410. Metropolitan police who were in active pursuit saw the crash and immediately arrived on scene. Numerous officers observed, and later testified, that Mr. Faltz was the backseat passenger of the Crown Victoria, and that D.I. was driving. App. 163–67, 175–76. Based on the officer's unequivocal observations, D.I. was ultimately charged with second-degree murder. App. 169.

The Government's focus began to shift away from D.I. only after it was unable to explain the presence of a DNA profile on the Crown Victoria's driver's side airbag. *See* App. 480–81. The MPD obtained a DNA profile from Mr. Faltz, and the FBI reported on January 31, 2005, that he could not be excluded as the contributor to the airbag. *See* App. 484–85.

Based on these results and its assumption that DNA from the center of the airbag could *only* have come from the car's driver, the Government reversed its

theory of the case completely. In January 2006, Mr. Faltz was charged with two counts of second degree murder, while all charges against the I brothers—now presumed to be the passengers—were dropped. *See* App. 2–3. All the while, the Government maintained its position in a civil case brought by D.I. that D.I. was the driver. *See Ingram v. District of Columbia*, No. 1:04-cv-00505-PLF, 2005 WL 3174624 (D.D.C. Oct. 5, 2005); App. 311–24.

Despite the presence of his DNA on the center of the airbag, Mr. Faltz resolutely maintained that he was not the driver of the Crown Victoria, and told his court-appointed attorney, Mr. Ferris Bond, that he had no intention of taking a plea deal, but instead wanted to try the case. App. 854. Instead of preparing for trial, Mr. Bond admitted that he did practically nothing to look into the DNA evidence. App. 663. Mr. Bond failed to explain to his client that while the DNA evidence did show Mr. Faltz's DNA profile on the driver's airbag, it also indicated the presence of at least one other person. See App. 485, 571. Mr. Bond did not request the full case file from the Government, including the FBI laboratory notes, which could have alerted him to serious chain of custody issues that raised the possibility of evidence contamination, resulting in the transfer of Mr. Faltz's DNA profile to the driver's airbag without him making direct contact with it at all. See App. 870–71. He failed to consult with a DNA expert who could help him understand or potentially challenge the DNA evidence, and apparently, never even considered doing so. App.

855. Mr. Bond also never consulted an accident reconstruction expert who could have explained to a jury how the existence of Mr. Faltz's DNA profile might be on the airbag despite him not being the driver. *Id*. Further, Mr. Bond failed to consult a medical expert who could explain how the hip injury that Mr. Faltz sustained in the crash was more consistent with being *a passenger* in the car, rather than the driver. App. 195; *see also* App. 586, 889.

Instead, Mr. Bond planned to explain the presence of Mr. Faltz's DNA on the driver's airbag by having Mr. Faltz testify himself, despite the fact that Mr. Faltz had no expertise whatsoever in DNA science, possible methods of DNA transfer, the physics of car accidents, or accident reconstruction, or indeed even a formal education beyond the 11th grade—a strategy that Stephen Mercer, Mr. Faltz's defense counsel standards expert, called "absurd" and "inconceivable." App. 869, 935.

On the morning of jury selection, Mr. Bond spoke to the prosecutor, received a new plea offer, and hastily conveyed it to Mr. Faltz. App. 575–76. The plea was to two counts of Involuntary Manslaughter, and Mr. Bond suggested to Mr. Faltz that he would receive a sentence of no more than 15 years. App. 578.

Critically, Mr. Bond appeared to accept the Government's version of what the DNA evidence showed without equivocation. As Mr. Faltz later stated, Mr. Bond told him "the *Government said* that my DNA was *all over* the airbag." App. 933

(emphasis added). With no effort to independently evaluate the DNA evidence through use of an expert, Mr. Bond later *admitted* that the idea of Mr. Faltz's DNA being "all over" the driver's airbag was based entirely on a "representation made to me by ... the prosecutor." App. 662–63.

Mr. Faltz pleaded guilty. Despite his attorney's assurance that he would likely receive a total of 15 years, the lower court sentenced him to 16 years on each count of involuntary manslaughter, to run consecutively, totaling 32 years of incarceration. App. 559.

His plea notwithstanding, Mr. Faltz maintained his innocence of the allegation at the core of the Government's case. In the days after the plea, but before sentencing, Mr. Faltz provided a that reaffirmed he was not the driver. App. 34, 196.

In the fall of 2009, Mr. Faltz filed a *pro se* motion to vacate and set aside his convictions and sentence, pursuant to D.C. Code § 23-110 alleging ineffective assistance of counsel against Mr. Bond. Appointed counsel, Mr. Daniel Harn, then filed a supplemental motion to withdraw the guilty plea pursuant to Rule 32(e) (current Rule 11(d)) on the grounds that there was a defect in the plea colloquy and that the plea was not knowing and voluntary due to ineffective assistance of counsel. App. 25.

On April 25, 2011 the lower court held an evidentiary hearing to consider Mr. Faltz's motion to withdraw the guilty plea. *See* App. 562, 565. The hearing pulled back the curtain on the investigation—or lack thereof—that Mr. Bond had done into the DNA evidence before abruptly advising his client to take the Government's plea offer. Mr. Bond admitted that he failed to consult with any experts, either DNA or accident reconstructionists, who could explain how the presence of Mr. Faltz's DNA profile on the center of the driver's airbag did not automatically mean that he was the driver. *See* App. 663–65.

Ironically, for all of Mr. Bond's admissions that he performed no investigation into the forensic evidence against his client beyond an initial discovery review, Daniel Harn, Mr. Faltz's post-conviction counsel, repeated most of Mr. Bond's mistakes by doing little investigation of his own. No DNA or accident reconstruction experts were presented by Mr. Harn during the § 23-110 hearing, and Mr. Faltz later stated under oath that (mirroring Mr. Bond) Mr. Harn never discussed the issue of retaining expert witnesses with him. App. 856.

Ultimately, the lower court denied Mr. Faltz's motion. Notably, the court found that *Strickland* prejudice had not been shown because Mr. Harn "*failed to present any witnesses or evidence* which would demonstrate that a better investigation could have been performed." App. 71 (emphasis added). In short, Mr. Faltz's post-conviction lawyer claimed that the trial lawyer failed to perform an investigation that could have undermined the Government's claims—and the postconviction lawyer failed to show prejudice because he did *precisely the same thing*.

Fourteen years after the original FBI DNA testing was performed, Bode Cellmark Forensics performed re-testing of the driver's airbag and issued a report on June 15, 2016 ("Bode Report"). App. 176, 724. While the Bode Report did not undermine the finding that Mr. Faltz's DNA was indeed on the center of the driver's airbag, it did identify a swab from the right edge of the airbag that identified the DNA profiles of at least two people but declined to interpret the results, likely because it did not have access to the sophisticated technology required to interpret a complex DNA mixed sample. App. 176–78.

New IPA counsel for Mr. Faltz, however, asked Dr. Norah Rudin, a nationally recognized DNA expert, if she could interpret the sample using probabilistic genotyping, a cutting edge approach that employs sophisticated use of statistical modeling techniques allowing DNA analysts to assign "likelihood ratios" to the DNA samples in question. App. 178. Dr. Rudin testified that likelihood ratios consider far more information than traditional (or "binary") DNA methods in determining whether certain individuals are likely to have contributed DNA to mixed samples. App. 880.

Using this methodology, which was unavailable to the FBI in 2002, Dr. Rudin was able to show that D.I. *could not be excluded* as a DNA contributor

to the airbag, in contrast to the FBI's original analysis. *See* App. 178, 182, 730–31. In fact, "[t]he evidence supporting the presence of D.I. in [the sample taken from the edge of the driver's airbag] is about *100 times stronger* than the evidence supporting the presence of Anthony Faltz." *See* App. 730 (emphasis added).

The finding of D.I.'s DNA on the airbag—and specifically, on the side of the airbag—comported with the report of defense accident reconstruction expert C. Gregory Russell. Mr. Russell's analysis found that due to the "t-bone" nature of the collision, in which the striking Crown Victoria hit the Nissan Maxima at a perpendicular angle, the Crown Victoria would have immediately started rotating upon impact. *See* App. 921. In turn, that rotation would have caused the occupants to move *forward and to the left relative to the vehicle*. App. 186.

As a result, if D.I. was in fact driving the car, he would have moved toward the front left side of the vehicle, where the windshield meets the driver's door. App. 711. And critically, Mr. Faltz, the unrestrained backseat passenger, would have moved through the car *toward the driver's area*—a conclusion Mr. Russell testified was supported by photographs of the Crown Victoria taken on the night of the crash that showed the back of the driver's seat bent forward, **pRes**umably from the force of Mr. Faltz being thrown forward during the collision. App. 711–12; App. In this analysis, Mr. Faltz could have left his DNA on the center of the driver's airbag by flying toward or into it from his back seat passenger position, while D.I. movement forward and to the left would likely lead to him making contact with the *side* of the airbag, if not missing it entirely. App. 186–87.

While Mr. Faltz renewed his claims of innocence, he also raised new claims against both Mr. Bond and Mr. Harn. Specifically, Mr. Faltz added a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for Mr. Bond's failure to investigate both the forensic DNA evidence and the physics of the accident, as shown by his failure to present testimony from, or even consult, a scientific expert who could speak to either of the two forms of evidence. App. 110. Mr. Faltz also added additional ineffective assistance of counsel claims against Mr. Harn, his first post-conviction attorney, whose total failure to investigate the same issues made it impossible for him to prove how Mr. Bond's performance prejudiced Mr. Faltz, because they were ineffective in almost identical ways. App. 110–11.

At the hearing on the new IAC and IPA claims, the defense called Mr. Faltz and three expert witnesses. Critically, the observations and prior statements of the police officers who responded to the crash were included in a joint stipulation submitted as an exhibit and read into the record as substantive evidence, representing multiple witnesses who "testified" that D.I. was driving the Crown Victoria at the time of the crash, while Mr. Faltz was the rear passenger. App. 161–62, 846.

Mr. Faltz testified first, and largely reiterated what he had already claimed in his multiple written motions and prior testimony in the 2011 § 23-110 hearing. Mr. Faltz also testified for the first time about Mr. Harn's representation, repeating that Mr. Harn had never discussed the possibility of hiring, or even speaking to, any expert witnesses in his 2011 § 23-110 hearing. App. 856.

Stephen Mercer testified to the appropriate "standard of care" a competent defense attorney is expected to offer a client in cases involving complex forensic evidence such as DNA—and how both Mr. Bond and Mr. Harn fell far short. As to Mr. Harn, Mr. Mercer testified that based on his review of the 2011 § 23-110 hearing transcript, "Mr. Harn [] appears to have conducted an inadequate investigation because there is *no* indication that the laboratory case file had been obtained and there's no indication that the chain of custody for this trace evidence had ever been scrutinized." App. 203 (emphasis added). Given Mr. Harn's own failures, Mr. Mercer said it would have been impossible for him to establish prejudice on the part of Mr. Bond. App. 867-68.

More broadly, Mr. Mercer testified that upon learning DNA evidence is central to a case, a competent criminal defense attorney should obtain discovery and investigate the DNA evidence, which includes: "read[ing] and review[ing] [the DNA] report and [] obtain[ing] the laboratory case file and documentation that exists for that report[.]" App. 202. These steps are "essential" to any investigation and obligatory for any criminal defense attorney—even one without extensive experience in forensic analysis. *Id*.

As mentioned *supra*, the defense also called Dr. Norah Rudin, who testified to her use of probabilistic genotyping to interpret the complex mix DNA sample on the side of the airbag—and how it revealed a far higher likelihood of D.I.s DNA profile than Anthony Faltz's. In response, the Government presented Dr. Bruce Budowle, who also qualified as a DNA expert. Dr. Budowle critiqued Dr. Rudin's approach, particularly on issues involving the potential presence of "stutter"—or false "peaks" in a DNA sample—and whether she was correct in evaluating the likelihood ratios of Mr. Faltz compared to D.I. on the airbag sample. App. 895–96.

But most significantly, despite his differences with Dr. Rudin's approach on likelihood ratio analysis Dr. Budowle repeatedly affirmed that D.I. was a likely contributor to the DNA sample on the right side of the Ford Crown Victoria's driver's side airbag, along with Mr. Faltz. App. 897, 899. Unquestioned on all sides, then, was that D.I.s DNA was on the driver's airbag—the only major dispute was how strong the comparative strength of the profiles were between D.I. and Mr. Faltz.

12

The rest of the hearing involved testimony from the Government's expert witnesses, Michael Miller and Brian Chase on the one hand, and defense expert, Mr. Russell on the other hand, about the physics of vehicle movement (including its occupants), the speed of airbag deployment, and the very reliability of the Government's accident evidence.

For his part, Mr. Russell stood by the conclusions reached in his expert report, chief among them that, due to the forward, diagonal movement of the occupants of the Crown Victoria, it is possible that an unrestrained rear passenger—such as Mr. Faltz—would have made contact with the driver's airbag during the collision. App. 187. Mr. Russell testified that scene evidence supported this forward, diagonal movement, as the back of the driver's seat was bent forward and to the left, likely indicating that a large, heavy, rear seat occupant traveled directly toward the driver's side of the car. App. 189. Mr. Russell also testified that, in addition to the occupants' bodies moving forward in a diagonal movement, any related bodily fluids would follow this same trajectory, in accordance with the laws of physics. *Id.* For example, saliva, sweat, or blood droplets would all have traveled forward, in a diagonal moner during the collision. *Id.*

Prior to their testimony at the hearing, both Mr. Miller's and Mr. Chase's expert reports had been subject to significant reliability challenges by the defense team. Defense counsel filed pre-trial *Daubert* challenges to both expert reports in an

attempt to have both Mr. Miller and Mr. Chase excluded from testifying. *See* App. 141; App. 149. Importantly, Mr. Miller's "accident reconstruction" was entirely based on a "field sketch" from the night of the crash, and Mr. Miller's effort at a full accident reconstruction came more than *four years* after the incident. *See* App. 144, 170–72. By that time, Mr. Miller was unable to forensically map the location of the vehicles, any skid marks, gouge marks, fluid trails, or other debris from the night of the collision because the road had been repaved and no scene evidence remained. *See* App. 172. Defense counsel argued that because of these deficiencies, Mr. Miller's conclusions were "speculative" under the *Daubert* standard, and his expert opinions were therefore unreliable. *See* App. 144.

But even more notable was the extent to which Mr. Chase relied on Mr. Miller's report in formulating his own conclusions. One of Mr. Chase's core claims in his expert report was the remarkable contention that after colliding with the Nissan, the Crown Victoria proceeded directly forward for 16.9 feet and *only then* started to rotate. App. 743. Moreover, in what appeared to be a substantial misunderstanding of Mr. Miller's expert report, Mr. Chase credited Mr. Miller with conducting a "forensic crash reconstruction" of the two cars, that Mr. Miller did so "immediately following the crash," and that "critical scene physical evidence which dissipates over time was forensically mapped and documented." App. 738. Critically, it was at least in part on the *basis of Mr. Miller's "reconstruction"* that

Mr. Chase determined that the driver's airbag would have been fully deployed before the Crown Victoria ever began rotating and that the rear seat passenger could not have made contact with the driver's airbag. *See* App. 744. As a result, the defense filed motions to exclude both Mr. Miller and Mr. Chase's reports—and the testimony that would inevitably follow.

Lastly Mr. Faltz returned to the stand, and re-affirmed that he "wanted to go to trial." App. 931. Most importantly, Mr. Faltz testified that he never would have pled guilty if it had been explained to him that D.I.'s DNA was *also* on the driver's airbag, and instead would have taken the case to trial. App. 931–32. But when Mr. Bond told him "this is as good as it's going to get, and that the Government said that my DNA is all over the airbag and [the Ingrams] were going to say I was the driver," he changed his mind. App. 933. Later, Mr. Faltz elaborated on what effect that conversation had on his mindset: "[Mr. Bond was] basically saying like he *really didn't have a defense ready for me.*" App. 934 (emphasis added).

After initial closing arguments, the court made clear just how deep its preconceived skepticism of Mr. Faltz's claims ran. During the defense's rebuttal, Judge Christian repeatedly referenced a letter that Mr. Faltz had written to the court prior to his sentencing and expressed incredulity that the court should not treat the letter's phrasing as an "admission" that Mr. Faltz was actually the driver, despite no such language in the letter itself. In reality, the letter included statements that Mr. Faltz had countless sleepless nights over having been "the cause" of two people losing their lives, that he needed someone to believe he was not a murderer, and that he was pleading guilty in order to take responsibility for his actions. App. 197. Mr. Faltz also testified that he wrote the letter because he felt guilty about being "involved" in the crash that killed two people, and that as the oldest of the three young men, he thought he might have been able to stop D.I. from fleeing the police, or should not have joined the Ingrams in joy-riding in the first place. In that sense, Mr. Faltz explained, he felt like he helped "cause" the deaths of the victims. *Id.*

But more importantly, the court used defense counsel's rebuttal as an opportunity to question why any defendant would possibly plead guilty to a crime he did not commit:

THE COURT: Stick with me here. Why would you plead guilty to having killed someone who killed two people --MR. MILLIKAN: Well, been involved – THE COURT: -- when you -- when you knew you weren't the driver?

App. 936.

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