BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Nos. 14-CO-978 & 23-CO-507

ANTHONY FALTZ,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

APPEALS FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

> MATTHEW M. GRAVES United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB KACIE WESTON

* DAVID P. SAYBOLT, VA Bar #44518 Assistant United States Attorneys

Counsel for Oral Argument
601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232
Washington, D.C. 20530
David.Saybolt@usdoj.gov

Cr. No. 2006-CF1-4490

Appellee.

Appellant,



Received 01/17/2024 04:15 PM Filed 01/17/2024 04:15 PM

(202) 252-6829

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

Faltz complains (at 43) that the trial court erroneously allowed the government's experts to testify based on the incorrect assumption that Russell had relied on the expert reports of Miller and Chase. Taken in context, the judge found, as the government had represented, that Russell's analysis relied "on the evidence, diagrams, and measurements taken by Miller" (11-15-22 Tr. 15-16). This was true; Russell had no first-hand knowledge of the scene or evidence other than what he found in the scene photographs and Miller's notes, measurements, and diagram (see JX.35:4, 16-19; JX.36:4-8, 12, 33; 11-16-22 Tr. 32-33, 81-82). In any event, Russell's disagreement with Miller's reconstruction was amply developed at the hearing, and the record shows that the trial court understood the basis for Russell's

opinions and compared Russell's findings to those of the government experts (see 11-16-22 Tr. 67-77, 97-103; 11-17-22 Tr. 31-34, 37).¹⁶

For these reasons, Faltz cannot show manifest error. *See Ruffin*, 219 A.2d at 1006-08 (no abuse of discretion to admit expert DNA testimony from private expert who relied on DNA test results from the D.C. Department of Forensic Sciences which had lost its accreditation over the department's interpretation procedures); *Melton*, 597 A.2d at 902-04 (no abuse of discretion to admit expert psychiatric testimony based in part on allegedly unreliable reports from family members and past hospital records where bases for expert's opinions were subject to cross-examination).

Finally, any error in admitting the government expert testimony was harmless. *See Gardner v. United States*, 140 A.3d 1172, 1185 (D.C. 2016). Even if the Court had not heard Miller and Chase, as discussed infra, there is no reasonable probability that the court would have found Faltz to be actually innocent under the IPA. The court emphasized Faltz's own admissions of having driven the car and the presence of the large amount of his DNA on the center of the airbag. In addition, the court

¹⁶ The cases relied upon by Faltz (at 43-45) do not establish that it was an impermissible to admit the testimony. *See Dickerson v. District of Columbia*, 182 A.3d 721, 726-729 (D.C. 2018) (no abuse of discretion to preclude defense expert who had trained himself as an expert on field-sobriety tests); *Girardot*, 92 A.3d at 1109-14 (same; defense proffered expert on why children make false complaints of sexual abuse).

discredited Russell's theory because it was based on scenarios, like the side-impact utility-pole collision example, that the court found were not relevant to the charged collision (see R3.75:3-4; see JX.35:21-26). On the strength of these independent findings, the Court can say "with fair assurance, after pondering all that happened without stripping the erroneous action from the whole, that the judgment was not substantially swayed by the error." *Gardner*, 140 A.3d at 1186 (quoting *Kotteakos v. United States*, 328 U.S. 750, 765 (1946)).¹⁷

II. The Trial Court Properly Analyzed Faltz's IPA Motion.

Faltz complains (at 21-29) that the trial court misconstrued the IPA's statutory requirement that the court consider "the specific reason the movant pleaded guilty despite being actually innocent of the crime." D.C. Code § 22-4135(g)(1)(E). His claims lack merit.

¹⁷ Were this Court to find an abuse of discretion, the Court should remand to permit the trial court to determine which opinions were admissible. *See Benn v. United States*, 978 A.2d 1257, 1280 (D.C. 2009) (remanding to permit trial court to properly consider expert testimony in the context of the facts of the case). Faltz never challenged Chase's qualifications as an expert (see, e.g., 11-16-22 Tr. 203). Chase expressly grounded his opinion that, in a frontal collision, the driver would contact the center of the driver's-side airbag on federal safety standards that required the same; he did not ground this opinion in Miller's reconstruction (*id.* at 206-08; 11-17-22 Tr. 15). Also, the opinions of Miller and Chase that (1) the driver of the Ford would have impacted the driver's air bag in a frontal collision, and (2) there was insufficient room between the A-pillar and the inflated airbag for the driver to miss the airbag in a frontal collision, primarily relied on the raw data collected by Miller in 2002 rather than the challenged 2006 accident reconstruction.

A. Additional Background

During rebuttal argument on the motion, defense counsel argued that Faltz believed that a murder charge would require him to admit to driving the Ford whereas an involuntary-manslaughter charge would turn only on his liability as a passenger (11-17-22 Tr. 125-26). When the court asked counsel how Faltz could have pleaded guilty as a passenger, counsel responded that Faltz did not understand involuntary manslaughter and felt guilty because he was "involved if in some peripheral way" (*id.* at 127-28). The court then asked why Faltz would plead guilty if he knew he was not the driver and noted that Faltz knew that the Ingrams' cases had been dismissed and the Ingrams were going to testify against him; counsel responded that Faltz believed his lawyer "had given up on him" (*id.* at 128-30).

The court then asked:

I'm just trying to understand . . . if somebody is telling you to plead guilty to something that you didn't do, especially of this nature . . . you can call it whatever you want, you can call it shoplifting, and why would you plead guilty if you didn't steal the bubble gum? (11-17-22 Tr. 131).

Counsel answered, "I don't know how often [exonerations in guilty pleas] happen[], but it happens" (*id*.). The court clarified, "The circumstances of this case in a guilty plea . . . to the charges here" (*id*. at 131-32). The court asked, "even if your lawyer expressly told you I'm giving up on this case and you're going to plead, what person

would plead guilty . . . to murder?" (*id.* at 132). Counsel responded again that Faltz pleaded guilty to involuntary manslaughter (*id.*).

B. Standard of Review and Applicable Legal Principles

"The IPA provides that '[a] person convicted of a criminal offense in the Superior Court of the District of Columbia may move the court to vacate the conviction or to grant a new trial on grounds of actual innocence based on new evidence." *Williams v. United States*, 187 A.3d 559, 561 (D.C. 2018) (quoting D.C. Code § 22-4135(a)); *Caston v. United States*, 146 A.3d 1082, 1089 (D.C. 2016) (same). The movant must "set forth specific, non-conclusory facts" which "identify[] the specific new evidence," "[e]stablish[] how that evidence demonstrates that the movant is actually innocent despite having been convicted at trial or having pled guilty," and "[e]stablish[] why the new evidence is not cumulative or impeaching." D.C. Code § 22-4135(c). "Actual innocence' or 'actually innocent' means that the person did not commit the crime of which he or she was convicted." D.C. Code § 22-4131(1).

In considering an IPA claim, a court "may consider any relevant evidence," but "shall consider":

- (A) The new evidence;
- (B) How the new evidence demonstrates actual innocence;

(C) Why the new evidence is or is not cumulative or impeaching; . . . [and]

(E) If the conviction resulted from a guilty plea, the specific reason the movant pleaded guilty despite being actually innocent of the crime.

D.C. Code § 22-4135(g)(1). If, after considering those factors, the court "concludes that it is more likely than not that the movant is actually innocent of the crime, the court shall grant a new trial." D.C. Code § 22-4135(g)(2). If the court "concludes by clear and convincing evidence that the movant is actually innocent of the crime, the court shall vacate the conviction and dismiss the relevant count with prejudice." D.C. Code § 22-4135(g)(3).

This Court reviews the denial of an IPA motion for abuse of discretion. *Williams*, 187 A.3d at 562; *Caston*, 146 A.3d at 1090. The scope of the Court's review is "narrow on the question of whether that new evidence establishes appellant's actual innocence." *Id.* at 563 (cleaned up).

C. Analysis

As the court found, and the parties agreed, a large quantity of Faltz's DNA was found on the center of the driver's-side airbag, and the Ingram twins were excluded from that DNA sample (R3.74:20, 23; R3.75:1-2). Moreover, the court credited the government's expert Chase who testified that it would have been impossible for the driver to miss the center of the driver-side airbag in the frontal collision (R3.75:3-4). There was abundant evidence to support Chase's conclusion:

the airbag inflated in 40 milliseconds, well before the Ford reached maximum engagement at 100 milliseconds, and there was no time for the driver to avoid the airbag in a frontal collision (R3.74:33-34). There were only 3.5 inches between the inflated airbag and the A-pillar on the driver's door, and there was no damage or blood on the A-pillar or the driver's window; thus, there was no evidence that the driver's head was thrown violently against only the pillar or window while avoiding the airbag (*id.* at 16-17). Finally, both Chase and Miller opined that the Ford would not have begun to rotate until after maximum engagement, by which time the airbag would have already inflated and deflated; thus, the rotation of the car did not bear on whether the driver collided with the center of the airbag (*id.* at 17-18, 34-35).

By contrast, the court discredited the defense expert Russell who theorized that the driver missed the airbag altogether based upon factual scenarios much different than in this case (R3.75:3). The court was understandably unconvinced by the defense theory (see *id*.) and permissibly chose to credit the government experts. *See Wallace v. United States*, 936 A.2d 757, 770–71 (D.C. 2007) (cleaned up) (when expert testimony presents "two permissible views of the evidence," the trial court's "choice between them cannot be deemed clearly erroneous."). Although Faltz challenges the trial court's admission of the expert testimony from Miller and Chase, he raises no independent challenge to the trial court's conclusion (see R3.75:1-2) that Faltz's new DNA and accident-reconstruction evidence failed to establish his

actual innocence. On this ground alone, Faltz's claim fails because he cannot show that the new evidence he proffered demonstrates his actual innocence. D.C. Code § 22-4135(g)(1)(A), (B); *see Williams*, 187 A.3d at 563-64 (no prejudice where trial court denied IPA claim after finding that proffered new evidence did not demonstrate defendant's actual innocence).

Nor did the court clearly err in finding that Faltz pleaded guilty because he was guilty and not for any other reason. § 22-4135(g)(1)(E). The court found that Faltz had repeatedly admitted his guilt: at the plea hearing and in his letter to the court at sentencing (R3.75:4). The court discredited Faltz's testimony that he thought he was pleading guilty as the passenger: Attorney Bond's letter to Faltz clearly explained that the government planned to prove that Faltz had been driving (*id.*). Moreover, Faltz had admitted to Attorney Bond that he was, in fact, driving (id.). Having spoken to Faltz at his guilty plea and observed him testify twice (in 2011 and 2022) about his plea, the trial court was in a unique position to assess Faltz's credibility. The court had ample grounds to reject Faltz's claims. See, e.g., R3.75:4 ("The Court is wholly unconvinced that Defendant pleaded guilty for any reason other than because he is guilty."); R1.29:28 ("The Court finds it difficult to accept Defendant's new assertion that he thought he was pleading guilty as the passenger."). On appeal, the trial court's factual findings, anchored in repeated credibility assessments of Faltz, are beyond appellate reversal. See Williams, 187 A.3d at 561

(in an IPA hearing, "the Superior Court judge's factual findings anchored in credibility assessments derived from personal observations of the witnesses [are] beyond appellate reversal unless those factual findings are clearly erroneous.") (cleaned up); *see, e.g. Turner v. United States*, 116 A.3d 894, 928-29 (D.C. 2015) (no abuse of discretion to deny IPA claim where trial court discredited recantations of four government witnesses as "not worthy of belief").

Faltz asserts (at 21-29) that the trial court misconstrued the inquiry required by the IPA when a defendant asserts his innocence after entering a guilty plea. Specifically, he claims (at 21) that the trial court's exchanges with defense counsel during rebuttal argument indicated an "unfair incorrect presumption that innocent people do not plead guilty." Faltz wholly misconstrues the context of the court's exchange with counsel. Contrary to Faltz's claim, the court's questions did not presuppose that a factually innocent person could not plead guilty. Rather, the court was appropriately skeptical. Courts must consider "sworn statements from a defendant at his plea hearing with a 'strong presumption of verity.'" Maddux v. District of Columbia, 212 A.3d 827, 839 (D.C. 2019) (quoting, inter alia, Blackledge v. Allison, 431 U.S. 63, 73-74 (1977)) (internal quotation marks omitted)). Here, the court focused on why Faltz would have pleaded guilty, especially given "the circumstances of this case" (11-17-22 Tr. 131; see also id. (asking why defendant would plead guilty to offense "especially of this nature"). The court reasonably

expressed its skepticism of Faltz's repeated assertions that, although he knew he had to be the driver to plead guilty to murder, he did not know he had to be the driver to plead guilty to involuntary manslaughter, particularly where the cases against the other persons in the car had been dismissed. Most importantly, the trial court had already discredited Faltz on this same point after hearing him testify in 2011 (R1.29:3, 14). Faltz earned the court's skepticism through his own conduct in this case, including his repeated denials that he had admitted to his lawyer that he was driving the car (R3.74:37). The trial court was required to be impartial, not gullible. See Liteky v. United States, 510 U.S. 540, 552 (1994) ("Impartiality is not gullibility."). Far from demonstrating a belief generally that innocent people do not plead guilty, the record demonstrates the court's suspicion (and ultimate finding) that Faltz himself, given the mountain of evidence that he was the driver and knew he was pleading guilty as the driver, did not plead guilty for any reason other than he knew he was guilty.

III. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion by Denying Faltz's Claims that Trial Counsel and Collateral Counsel Were Ineffective.

Faltz claims (at 29-40) that both trial counsel and collateral counsel were ineffective for failing to present DNA and accident-reconstruction experts at trial or the 2011 evidentiary hearing. His claims lack merit. Faltz's claim regarding trial counsel is successive to the ineffectiveness claim the trial court previously rejected, and Faltz cannot show cause and prejudice to excuse his default. His claim regarding collateral counsel fails because, as the trial court reasonably found, Faltz pleaded guilty because he was guilty, he knew he was likely to receive much more time in prison if he went to trial, and any potential testimony from DNA and accident-reconstruction experts would not have been reasonably likely to change that decision.

A. Faltz's Ineffectiveness Claim Regarding Attorney Bond is Successive and Procedurally Barred.

If not procedurally barred, this Court reviews a trial court's denial of a § 23-110 motion for abuse of discretion. *Rivera v. United States*, 941 A.2d 434, 441 (D.C. 2008). In conducting that review, this Court assesses the trial court's findings of fact for clear error and determinations on questions of law de novo. *Jenkins v. United States*, 870 A.2d 27, 33-34 (D.C. 2005).

Here, the trial previously rejected Faltz's ineffectiveness claim regarding Attorney Bond. Thus, the ineffectiveness claims about Attorney Bond in this case are successive and procedurally barred unless Faltz can show cause and prejudice to excuse his default. *See Hardy v. United States*, 988 A.2d 950, 960-61 (D.C. 2010); D.C. Code § 23-110(e); *see also United States v. Frady*, 456 U.S. 152, 167 (1982).¹⁸

¹⁸ For the reasons set forth in the government's brief in 14-CO-978, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Faltz's first § 23-110 motion.

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